Supreme Court No. 90636-0

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Curt Casey, Dave Scott and Barbara Volkov (hereinafter "Homeowners") are individuals and members of Respondent Sudden Valley Community Association ("SVCA" or "Association").

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Homeowners seek review of the court of appeals' decision in Casey v. Sudden Valley Community Ass'n, --- Wn. App. ---, 329 P.3d 919 (July 10, 2014) ("the Opinion"), attached hereto as Appendix A.

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the Association was required to obtain owner approval of assessments in accordance with its Bylaws even though the HOA Act provides a mandatory method for approving budgets that necessarily include assessments?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the Association need not follow the mandatory budget procedures of the HOA Act to adopt and approve "spending plans," which are budgets in all but name?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Created in 1969, the Sudden Valley Community Association is a large homeowners' association in Whatcom County that is currently comprised of owners of 3,204 lots. CP 216, 217. With a population of 6,441 residents, Sudden Valley (or "the Community") would be the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 2010 Census Data. Wikipedia, the Free Encyclopedia, Sudden Valley, Washington, at <a href="http://enwikipedia.org.wiki/Sudden Valley">http://enwikipedia.org.wiki/Sudden Valley</a>, Washington (last visited August 11, 2014). The relevant pages are attached hereto as Appendix B.

fourth largest city in Whatcom County if it were a municipality.<sup>2</sup>

The restrictive covenants ("Covenants") establishing Sudden Valley as a community association in 1969 provided for the infrastructure to run an expansive community. The Covenants provide for an "Architectural Control Committee," easements for roads and utilities, establish community beaches, park areas and reserve areas and require services such as security. *Id.* The Covenants charge the SVCA with maintaining these services and facilities, along with "such additional recreational or other facilities as Declarant may convey. . . ." *Id.* These other recreational facilities now include a community center, marina, health club, an Olympic-size pool, full-service restaurant, snack bar, library, 55 miles of private roads, parks and trails and its own 24/7 security. CP 312-13; 365-373; 385-87.

To balance the maintenance obligation, the Covenants grant to the Association the corresponding power to assess the members "on an equitable basis" to maintain and operate the facilities provided by the original declarant and those later added to the Community. CP 254. The Covenants provide no further restrictions on the board's ability to levy assessments. The Community's Bylaws provide additional necessary governance including an Executive Committee, committees for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Based on Census data from 2010, the top four populous cities are as follows: Bellingham (82,234); Lynden (12,605); Ferndale (11,998) and Blaine (4,891). Wikipedia, the Free Encyclopedia, Whatcom County, Washington at <a href="http://enwikipedia.org.wiki/Whatcom County">http://enwikipedia.org.wiki/Whatcom County</a>, Washington. (last visited August 11, 2014). The relevant pages are attached hereto as Appendix C.

<sup>3</sup> CP 252-54.

Nominations and Elections, Appeals and Finance. CP 243-45, 249. The Finance Committee provisions are rigorous and detailed, including rigorous membership requirements and duties, including preparation of budgets. CP 244-45.

Since 2008, the Community's proposed budgets have exceeded \$2.7 million. CP 312-13; 365-373; 385-87. Each lot is charged with paying its share of that overall budget in per-lot assessments, which has generally been between \$600 and \$800 annually since 2008. CP 218-220, 222. The 2009 Proposed Operations Budget, like all of the prior and successive years' budgets, included separate sections for revenues and expenditures, resulting in a balanced budget. CP 312-13. Specifically, the budget referenced revenue of \$2,191,547 from assessments. CP 312. The expenses ranged from \$1.9 million in employee salaries, taxes and benefits (for the 46.3 full-time employees), to \$82,450 for repairs and maintenance to a few thousand dollars for meeting expenses. *Id*.

For 2010, the Board proposed a budget that included \$1,471,390 in operating assessment revenue (total assessment revenue minus amounts allocated to reserves), compared to \$1,401,547 in 2008. CP 220, 348. Collection of that assessment revenue would require assessments for developed lots of \$766.52, around one third of which was intended to fund certain reserves for repairs and replacements of aging components of the Association, which was then 41 years old. CP 220, 317, 345. The proposal represented an annual increase in operations dues of only \$24 for developed lots. CP 345. The Board explained the need for the nominal

increase was to cover minor increases in actual costs, citing an actual reduction in work force, and a "frugal" budget. *Id*.

Procedurally, the Community had previously approved budgets by the owners in accordance with the HOA Act, which states that a budget is ratified by the members unless a majority of the members appear at a meeting and vote against passage of the budget. CP 218; RCW 64.38.025(3). Prior to 2012, the Community believed that it also needed to obtain a separate vote to approve assessments in accordance with a conflicting Bylaws provision. CP 218. Article III, Section 19 of the Sudden Valley Bylaws requires 60% of the votes of owners appearing at a meeting to vote in favor of an assessment for it to be approved. CP 217-18, 240. The attempt to apply both the HOA Act provision and the Bylaw assessment vote created the untenable position in which the Community found itself in 2010 and 2011 where the budget passed, but the assessments were voted down by a minority of owners. CP 220-23. In fact, in 2011, the board noted that for the past several years "20% of the membership can and has blocked all dues increases, except one small one for the pools." Casey v. Sudden Valley Community Ass'n., 329 P.3d 920, 921 (2014).

Having to determine what to do with an *approved* budget with an *unapproved* portion of the budget (assessments), the Community found itself without guidance from the Act and created unregulated "spending plans." CP 221-223. These spending plans were exactly like the prior budgets except that the board unilaterally adjusted expenditures to reflect

the reduced assessment revenue. CP 365-373, 384-87. Importantly, the Community *sought no owner approval* for these "spending plans," claiming the notice or ratification procedures of the HOA Act did not apply. CP 221-23. In the 2010 spending plan, the Committee outlined the tension between its duty to maintain and the failed assessment vote:

The following proposed spending plan has been developed to remain financially viable during the coming fiscal year. . . . With the limited funding presently available, we realize the Association will no longer be able to provide all services or amenities that are desired by the membership. We, nonetheless, are duty bound to ensure the Association's operations and viable amenities are maintained and provided within the available funding; a duty we are committed to meet.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The Community found itself in a similar quandary in 2011 when the budget passed, but the assessments were again voted down, requiring the Association to revert to assessments approved back in 2008 and necessitating the creation of another "spending plan." CP 223, 385-87. Not even nominal increases passed due to the vocal minority that continued to vote down assessments under the Bylaws. *Id.* 

In August of 2011, the Board finally resolved the conflict, determining that at the 2012 annual meeting, the budget votes would "be determined in accordance with Washington State Law, RCW 64.38.025, which provides that the Budget, including the dues to support it is approved unless a majority of the membership rejects it." CP 224. The budget proposed for 2012 was set at a substantial increase to make up for the lack of assessment revenue for the past few years. CP 224, CP 401.

The measure clearly asked voters to approve both the budget and the perlot assessment amounts. CP 225, 401, 403. The proposed budget for 2012 passed at the November 5, 2011 annual meeting, with just under 40% of the owners voting to reject it. CP 225.

Before the end of that month however, a newly-comprised Board reversed its prior legal interpretation that resolved the conflict and reinstated the affirmative voting provisions of the Bylaws. CP 225, 409-416.<sup>4</sup> Amidst board controversy, the new board also rescinded the new assessments, reverted to 2008 assessment levels and adopted another unapproved spending plan. CP 226.

Frustrated with the return to pre-HOA Act status, Homeowners brought this claim against the Association, asserting the supremacy of the HOA Act's budget and assessment ratification provision over the Bylaw provision. CP 6-19. Petitioners were originally awarded fees by the trial court on summary judgment. CP 481-82. The court of appeals reversed that award when they found for the Association and held Petitioners liable for fees. *Casey*, 329 P.3d at 926. Should this petition be accepted and the court of appeals reversed, the Homeowners request its attorneys' fees.

### V. ARGUMENT

## A. The Petition for Review Should be Accepted Because it Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

This petition should be accepted because it involves an issue of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Stipulation as to Undisputed Facts refers to the minutes of this action as Exhibit Z when, in fact, it appears that they were submitted to the court as Exhibit AA. The CP reference here is to the proper document.

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. See RAP 13.4(b). Under an identical standard in RAP 2.3(d)(3), the courts have held: "In determining whether an issue involves a sufficient public interest, we consider the public or private nature of the question, the need for future guidance provided by an authoritative determination, and the likelihood of recurrence." Edie v. State, Dep't. of Licensing, 101 Wn. App. 218, 3 P.3d 208 (2000); see also Klickitat County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat County, 122 Wn.2d 619, 632, 860 P.2d 390 (1993) (citing similar considerations under RAP 18.9(c)(2)).

The issues raised by this decision are of a public nature and likely to recur because of the sheer number of Washington residents directly affected by this ruling. Moreover, the legislature has recently determined that the core issue in this case – providing for long-term financial stability of homeowners' associations – is of great public interest as demonstrated by its enactment of recent reserve study legislation.

# 1. The Number and Size of Affected Homeowner Associations in Washington Supports Review.

The Sudden Valley decision affects a large number of Washington residents. In addition to affecting the over 6,000 residents of Sudden Valley, it is equally obvious that homeowners' associations in Washington with affirmative assessment vote provisions in their governing documents are similarly impacted. Moreover, because the court of appeals held that the operative provision in the Community's *Bylaws* affects the Community's passage of its budget, any homeowners association can

exploit *Sudden Valley* by amending its bylaws to require an affirmative vote for assessments to avoid paying any increases.<sup>5</sup> In this way, the Opinion affects all homeowners' associations in Washington, the members of which represent a large portion of the Washington population.

In fact, as of 2013, Washington State ranked ninth in the nation of the number of estimated community associations, with an estimated 10,000 associations in the state, comprised of an estimated 2,000,000 people living in community associations. Perhaps this is why SVCA conceded to the court of appeals that this case: "has significant implications for SVCA and homeowners' associations throughout the State." *Brief of Appellant Sudden Valley Community Association*, p. 1.

# 2. The Importance of the Financial Sustainability of Homeowner Associations Supports Review.

The case also affects the public interest because it substantially impacts a core governance issue of community associations – providing for the long-term financial stability of homeowner associations through budgeting, collection of assessments and planning for reserves. The legislature has recently addressed this important public policy when it enacted reserve study legislation requiring even apathetic homeowner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This could be easily accomplished because the HOA Act does not supply a minimum threshold vote requirement for amendment of an association's bylaws, deferring that provision to the bylaws themselves. *See* RCW 64.38.030(5). As a result, an HOA's bylaws could be amended by a mere majority of owners, by a minority of owners, or even without vote of the owners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2013 Community Association Fact Book for Washington published by Foundation for Community Association Research ("FCAR"), excerpts from which are provided at Appendix D.

associations to be fiscally responsible.

The recently enacted reserve study legislation requires homeowner associations with significant assets to prepare and update reserve studies annually. *See* RCW 64.38.065. The purpose of a reserve study is to estimate the future costs of major maintenance, repair and replacement of common element "reserve components," including roofs, pools, roads, sidewalks and the like. RCW 64.38.070(2); 64.38.010(16). Community associations are encouraged to establish "reserve accounts" to fund these future repairs. RCW 64.38.065(1).

The purpose of this legislation is to "offset the financial burden of necessary future renovations that, in the absence of a reserve account, would require the condominium association to impose a special assessment upon the owners." CP 182-83. In other words, the statute is intended to overcome the reluctance of owners to pay their pro-rata share of the useful life of the common elements they enjoy so that the entire cost of major repairs or replacements is not borne by those owners who happen to be in residence when the major repair or replacement becomes necessary. Thus, the legislature clearly considered the issue of long-term financial sustainability of its homeowners' associations to be of substantial interest to warrant this legislation.

The legislature's prudence in this respect is clear given the substantial commerce transacted in these communities. Community associations in Washington collect estimated annual assessments of almost two billion dollars per year, with over six hundred million of those dollars

allocated to reserves. See n. 6, supra. Roughly 70,000 board members are entrusted with spending the billions of dollars in assessments, most of whom are volunteers with little to no experience in managing multimillion dollar corporations. Id. Given these numbers, responsible regulation of this spending is of serious public interest, as demonstrated by the legislature's concern that associations create reserve accounts.

This case impacts responsible homeowner association spending even more dramatically than reserve legislation because it affects not only homeowners' associations' ability to fund reserves, but their very ability to raise and collect regular assessments for the ongoing maintenance and operations of their communities. Thus, the Court should accept review to continue the legislature's work in ensuring continued fiscal responsibility of homeowner associations.

### B. An Authoritative Determination by the Supreme Court is Necessary because Sudden Valley Represents a Dangerous Departure from Established Practice Under the HOA Act.

The court of appeals' Opinion is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of a Washington HOA's budget process and represents a dangerous departure from established practice in this State. First, the plain language of RCW 64.38.025(3) reveals that it was intended to be the sole method for approving assessments because they are the primary component of the "revenue" portion of the budget. Second, when the statute is read in harmony with related statutes and the legislative intent, it becomes clear that the legislature intended RCW 64.38.025(3) to be the

exclusive and uniform method for establishing approval of assessments. The Supreme Court must accept review to bring practice back into line with the HOA Act's stated objectives and to protect hundreds of thousands of Washington homeowners.

# 1. The Plain Language of RCW 64.38.025(3) Demonstrates Clear Legislative Intent that the Approval of Budgets Encompasses Approval of Assessments.

The court of appeals never seemed to understand the nature of budgets and assessments as components of an association's overall financial picture. First, the court's conclusion that "the Act's statutory scheme treats budgets and assessments as distinct subjects" misses the point. The issue is not whether a budget *is* an assessment, but whether assessments are part of budgets such that the budget *approval* process constitutes *approval* of assessments.

The budget approval provision in RCW 64.38.025(3) encompasses approval of assessments because assessments are the "revenue" portion of budgets. The court of appeals acknowledged that assessments are revenues included within budgets. *Id.* at n. 5 (budget means an estimate of *expected income* and expense); *Id.* at 920 ("The Association derives revenue from a variety of sources, including annual due an assessments levied on its members.") Why, then, did it undergo such a tortured analysis to prove that RCW 64.34.025(3) for approval of budgets does not constitute approval of assessments when the answer is plain and especially

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Casey, 329 P.3d at 923.

where the modern view is to determine plain language in context with the legislative intent. In determining statutory meaning, the Court's fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent. State Dep't. of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

The primary statute at issue in this case is both plain on its face and when considering the legislative intent. RCW 64.38.025(3)(3) provides:

(3) Within thirty days after adoption by the board of directors of any proposed regular or special budget of the association, the board shall set a date for a meeting of the owners to consider ratification of the budget not less than fourteen nor more than sixty days after mailing of the summary. Unless at that meeting the owners of a majority of the votes in the association are allocated or any larger percentage specified in the governing documents reject the budget, in person or by proxy, the budget is ratified, whether or not a quorum is present. In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors.

There is no dispute that pursuant to this statute, the HOA Act provided homeowner associations throughout Washington with a uniform and mandatory process by which to adopt budgets. CP 218. The statute does not explicitly state that it is the procedure by which "assessments" are approved, but it does not need to because assessments are, by any definition, part of an association's budget. Similarly, the statute does not specifically state that it is the procedure by which "expenditures" are approved, but no one would reasonably argue that this is not the case;

Both assessments (as revenues) and expenditures are subsets of "budgets."

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