RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 21, 2014, 2:45 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 90636-0

Court of Appeals No. 70329-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUDDEN VALLEY COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, a Washington Non-Profit Corporation,

Respondent,

VS.

CURT CASEY, DAVE SCOTT & BARBARA VOLKOV,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT SUDDEN VALLEY COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard A. Davis III, WSBA #20940 CHMELIK SITKIN & DAVIS P.S. 1500 Railroad Avenue Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 671-1796 Attorney for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Significant Public Interest that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

In deciding whether a case presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest, the Court has found three factors to be determinative: (1) whether the issue is public or private nature;

⁹ No spending plan was required in 2013 because the measure to increase annual dues and assessments was approved by the membership. CP 226-27

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

(2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur. *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 796, 225
P.3d 213, 222-23 (2009); *Westerman v. Cary*, 125 Wn.2d 277 at 286–87, 829 P.2d 1067 (1995). Here, these three factors lead to the conclusion that the Court should deny review.

1. The Dispute Does Not Involve a Matter of Substantial Public Interest for which Guidance is Needed.

The Decision applies to SVCA, a private homeowners' association, which has consistently followed the process outlined in its Bylaws for imposing assessments for over 40 years. The Decision validates its members' longstanding contractual understanding and expectations that assessments would not be increased without a supermajority vote of the membership. Appellants assert that the Decision affects many other Washington HOA residents as well, but their supporting evidence for this proposition is dubious.

Appellants present no evidence that the Decision directly affects any other homeowners' association in the State of Washington. But, Appellants theorize that other so-called "community associations" *could* be affected by the Decision if they RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6 chose to amend their bylaws to require that assessment increases be approved by a vote separate from budget ratification.

Appellants' assertion about the number of residents who could be affected by the Decision is grossly misleading. The cited statistics refer to "community associations"¹⁰, a term which is a "catch all" for: (i) New Act Condominiums¹¹; (ii) Old Act Condominiums¹²; and (iii) homeowners' associations (HOAs). The budget and assessment provisions that apply to each of these are quite different.

New Act Condominiums must ratify an annual budget in the same manner as HOAs¹³, but the Legislature expressly limited their ability to impose assessments: "assessments must be made against all units, based on a budget adopted by the association. RCW 64.34.360 (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals recognized that this language---which does not appear in the HOA Act-confirms that the budget and assessment process are inextricably linked for New Act Condominiums.

¹⁰ Appellants cite to a "Community Association Factbook", which was not attached as an appendix to the Petition.

¹¹ These are condominiums formed after July 1, 1990 and are governed by the Washington Condominium Act, RCW 64.34.

¹² These condominiums are governed by RCW 64.32, the Horizontal Property Regimes Act. ¹³ See RCW 64.34.308(3).

"Old Act Condominiums" include condominiums created over more than a thirty year period prior to July 1, 1990.¹⁴ Although the Legislature applied many WCA provisions to Old Act Condominiums, the Legislature did not impose the WCA's budget and assessment provisions on Old Act Condominiums. In fact, Old Act Condominiums are governed by *no* statutory provision mandating how they must adopt budgets or impose assessments.¹⁵ They have absolute freedom in that regard.

HOAs are the only form of "community association" that could be affected by the Decision. But, as the Appellants concede, the HOA Act does not *explicitly* require HOAs to increase their assessments via the budget ratification *process*. Petition at 12. Appellants' conclusion must be inferred from the statute and legislative intent. That is a difficult pill to swallow, particularly if the Legislature truly intended to invalidate longstanding contractual expectations of HOA members such as those in Sudden Valley

 ¹⁴ The Horizontal Property Regimes Act was passed in 1963, and it governs condominiums created until July 1, 1990.
 ¹⁵ The Legislature did not make this budget approval section apply retroactively

¹⁵ The Legislature did not make this budget approval section apply retroactively to Old Act Condominiums. If it was so critical, as Appellants have contended, for assessments to be automatically approved by ratification of a budget, then it makes no sense at all that Old Act Condominiums would be excluded from this requirement while pre-1990 homeowners' associations would not.

who, for over 40 years have relied upon the process contained in their Bylaws.

In short, as the Court of Appeals recognized when it opted to initially issue the Decision as an unpublished opinion¹⁶, this Decision has minimal precedential value and is not a matter of substantial public interest.

2. The Decision Has Minimal Precedential Value.

The Decision merely holds that the Legislature never intended to preempt homeowner associations' freedom to establish a *process* for imposing assessments on their members. This conclusion is rather unremarkable, especially since the Legislature has left numerous other procedural issues up to the discretion of individual homeowner associations.¹⁷

In cases where the Legislature has decided to preempt conflicting provisions of governing documents, the Legislature has been very explicit as to its intent. Since the "bylaws of a

¹⁶ SVCA asked for the decision to be published to achieve finality. SVCA wanted to ensure that the Decision would be res judicata as to any other member in SVCA who may subsequently bring a similar action against SVCA.

¹⁷ An HOA has the discretion, for instance, to decide the number, qualifications, powers and duties, terms of office, and manner of electing and removing the board of directors and officers; filling of vacancies on the board; the method of amending the bylaws; the percentage of votes needed for a quorum; the procedure for levying of fines and appeals; and the manner by which associations adopt rules and regulations.

homeowners' association are, in effect, a contract between the association and its members"¹⁸ one would expect the Legislature to use explicit language when it abrogates a central feature of this contractual relationship. The Legislature knows very well how to do this. Consider, for instance, the language used by the Legislature to abrogate inconsistent provisions in a homeowners association's governing documents regarding displaying the American flag or political yard signs: "[t]he governing documents may not prohibit" RCW 64.38.033-.034. The Legislature's admonition is unambiguous and explicit. This affirms that the Legislature will properly notify homeowners' associations when statutory provisions are intended to preempt governing documents. Knowing this, it becomes clear that the Legislature did *not* intend RCW 64.38.025(3) to preempt an association's procedures for approving assessments.

3. The Decision Does Not Impact the Financial Sustainability of Homeowners' Associations.

Because of the unexceptional holding of the Decision, Appellants attempt to make more of the Decision than is warranted to enhance the likelihood that the Supreme Court will accept

¹⁸ Rodruck v. Sand Point Maint. Comm., 48 Wn.2d 565 (1956). RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

review. They assert, for instance, that the Decision affects the financial stability of homeowners' associations. Appellants argue that the Legislature was concerned enough about the financial viability of associations that it recently required "even apathetic homeowners' associations to be fiscally responsible."

While financial stability of HOAs may well constitute sound public policy, it was not a concern the Legislature addressed when it passed the HOA Act in 1995 or when it passed the recent reserve study amendments. The HOA Act was passed in 1995 to enhance notification to HOA owners of Board actions and to require some basic consistency of procedures. There is nothing in the legislative history that indicates legislative concern over HOA solvency.

House Bill Report HB 1471 provided:

The bill is needed to deal with common complaints received from members of homeowners' associations. The bill provides a set of basic rules and procedures by which homeowners' associations must operate in order to protect individual association members. The board of directors of some homeowners' associations currently do not provide members notice of their actions and imposition of assessments. The board needs to be accountable to the members of the association and needs to make decisions based on the association's interest.

CP 81-84 (emphasis added).

This shows that the Legislative intent behind the Act was to "protect individual association members" by giving them more information and, thus, more control. It did this by ensuring that members received adequate notice.

In 2011, the Legislature amended the HOA Act to require associations to conduct periodic reserve studies and to authorize homeowner associations to establish reserve accounts. Once again, as the Final Bill Report¹⁹ for the amendment confirms, this had nothing to do with mandating fiscal responsibility²⁰ and everything to do with ensuring that members received crucial information regarding the condition of association facilities and future repairs:

> Appellants' associations are encouraged to establish reserve accounts, supplemental to the annual operating budget, to fund major maintenance, repair, and replacement of common elements. Similar to the new requirement for condominium associations, HOAs must disclose information to owners regarding

¹⁹ Final Bill Report, ESHB 1309, attached hereto as Appendix A.

²⁰ The clever use of quotation marks allows Appellants to misrepresent the purpose of the 2011 amendments. Appellants contend that "the purpose of this legislation is to 'offset the financial burden of necessary renovations that, in the absence of a reserve account, would require the condominium association to impose a special assessment upon the owners." Petition at p. 9. The House Bill Analysis actually states that "the purpose of a *reserve account*" (not the legislative amendment) is to offset the financial burdens associated with such deferred maintenance.

reserve accounts and reserve studies with the summary of the annual budget.

B. Supreme Court Review is Not Needed to Correct Any Departure from Established Practice.

Without citation to authority, Appellants assert that the Decision represents a "dangerous" departure from some "established practice." To the extent it exists, any established practice is irrelevant to this Court's inquiry.

But, a brief discussion of "practice" is important if for no other reason than to demonstrate how Appellants' argument is detached from reality. Appellants' misguided assumption is that an owner can review the association's budget and determine whether the proposed assessment for his lot is acceptable.²¹ That's not how it works. The budget is a "macro" document, dealing with the association's *total* revenue and total expenses for the year; it does not deal with the obligation of individual owners. Take SVCA's budget, for example. It shows the total projected revenue from assessments, but not the individual assessment per lot. See CP 405. So, by looking at the budget, how would a lot owner know exactly what assessment level he is ratifying or whether it

²¹ See Petition at p. 17 ("the Act provides a uniform method by which owners receive notice of assessments-contained within budgets")

represents an increase over last year's assessment? Simply put, he can't. He would have to dig for that information elsewhere because the line item for "assessments" does not translate into the ideal mathematical formula that Appellants seem to envision:

Revenue = assessment/lot x number of lots

Such a rigid formula fails to account for different assessment tiers²²

or the Board's judgment in adjusting for potential foreclosures,

bankruptcies, and defaults. The Board's failure to adjust for these

events were, in large part, why the revenue portion of SVCA's

budget for 2010 was overestimated. The 2010 Spending Plan

notes:

To say that 2009, with its wave of personal bankruptcies, home foreclosures, business failures, lost jobs and reduced consumer spending, has been bad for the Association, would be an understatement. Add to this dismal national picture, our own failed dues proposal, increased dues delinquencies and a flat construction season and you have the makings of a challenging new year. This is the context in which the 2010 budget exists and to which it must be reconciled.

CP 366.

²² See CP 401. SVCA has different assessment levels depending upon whether a lot is developed or undeveloped.

If the Legislature really intended ratification of the budget to provide essential assessment information to the members, wouldn't the Legislature have insisted that the assessment be listed in the budget itself or, at a minimum, in the "summary of budget"? Yet, not even the summary of budget requires this crucial information to be disclosed to members.²³ So, instead of enhancing information to members, Appellants' position serves to keep them in the dark.

(b) If additional regular or special assessments are scheduled to be imposed, the date the assessments are due, the amount of the assessments per each owner per month or year, and the purpose of the assessments;

(c) Based upon the most recent reserve study and other information, whether currently projected reserve account balances will be sufficient at the end of each year to meet the association's obligation for major maintenance, repair, or replacement of reserve components during the next thirty years;

(d) If reserve account balances are not projected to be sufficient, what additional assessments may be necessary to ensure that sufficient reserve account funds will be available each year during the next thirty years, the approximate dates assessments may be due, and the amount of the assessments per owner per month or year;

(e) The estimated amount recommended in the reserve account at the end of the current fiscal year based on the most recent reserve study, the projected reserve account cash balance at the end of the current fiscal year, and the percent funded at the date of the latest reserve study;

(f) The estimated amount recommended in the reserve account based upon the most recent reserve study at the end of each of the next five budget years, the projected reserve account cash balance in each of those years, and the projected percent funded for each of those years; and

(g) If the funding plan approved by the association is implemented, the projected reserve account cash balance in each of the next five budget years and the percent funded for each of those years.

²³ RCW 64.38.025(4) provides:

As part of the summary of the budget provided to all owners, the board of directors shall disclose to the owners:

⁽a) The current amount of regular assessments budgeted for contribution to the reserve account, the recommended contribution rate from the reserve study, and the funding plan upon which the recommended contribution rate is based;

On the other hand, SVCA's process of conducting an independent vote places the issue front and center for the members' collective decision.

1. The Decision Correctly Interpreted the Plain Language of the Statute.

The primary statute at issue, RCW 64.38.025(3) provides:

Within thirty days after adoption by the board of directors of any proposed regular or special budget of the association, the board shall set a date for a meeting of the owners to consider ratification of the budget not less than fourteen nor more than sixty days after mailing of the summary. Unless at that meeting the owners of a majority of the votes in the association are allocated [sic] or any larger percentage specified in the governing documents reject the budget, in person or by proxy, the budget is ratified, whether or not a quorum is present. In the event the proposed budget is rejected or the required notice is not given, the periodic budget last ratified by the owners shall be continued until such time as the owners ratify a subsequent budget proposed by the board of directors.

(Emphasis added). The term "assessments" is not even found in

this section. That term is defined in RCW 64.38.010(1) as "all sums

chargeable to an owner by an association in accordance with RCW

64.38.020." (Emphasis added). Notably, the definition of

assessments does not even refer to the budget ratification statute

(RCW 64.38.025), which it would obviously do if assessments were approved via the budget ratification process.

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